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Foreword

Sir Michael Burton

When I was the British Minister and Deputy Commandant in Berlin during the last five years of the post-war Four Power occcupation of the city, which ended with its reunification in 1990, the memory of the blockade and airlift of 1948/49 was still very much alive. The three Western Allies—the US, Britain, and France—gathered every year, together with the leaders of West Berlin, to place wreaths at the memorial outside Tempelhof, the former US military airport. The memorial takes the form of a broken arch, symbolizing the beginning of a bridge (the German term for the airlift is the rather more graphic Luftbrücke or Airbridge). The corresponding western arch is at Frankfurt International Airport. At the wreath-laying ceremony, we were remembering those who lost their lives keeping West Berlin supplied with basic foodstuffs, medical supplies, and fuel during those fateful fifteen months. Although the airlift was US-led, it so happens that the largest number of names recorded is British, largely due to a single aircraft crash.

The background to these events, as graphically told in Ann and John Tusa’s superbly researched book, is that the four victorious Powers of World War II—the three Western Allies plus the Soviet Union—agreed at the Potsdam Conference at the conclusion of the war that, in addition to defeated Nazi Germany being divided into four zones of occupation, Berlin would be divided into four Allied sectors. The problem was that, as the three Western Allies became painfully aware when they moved their troops up to garrison these Sectors, Berlin was squarely in the middle of the Soviet Zone, closer to the Polish border than to the inner German border. The Potsdam Agreement provided for three air corridors with guaranteed access to Berlin from the Western Allies’ Zones in the west. But there was no corresponding agreement on guaranteed road and water access to the city.

This distinction became of critical importance when the Soviet Union imposed a blockade of Berlin in 1948. It was sparked by the Allied decision to introduce a new currency into their occupation zones—the Deutschemark—in order to promote a revival of the shattered German economy. The Soviets, by contrast, favoured exacting maximum reprisals from that economy rather than helping it off its knees. When they closed off the access by road and waterways at the inner German border, the Allies were faced with a dilemma: whether to force supplies through along these routes and risk confrontation, and even war, with their erstwhile Soviet ally, or to supply the city along the legally guaranteed air corridors.

The dramatic story of what happened is recounted in this excellent book. The airlift produced many heroes, such as the city’s mayor, Ernst Reuter, whose inspirational rhetoric called upon the world to “look upon Berlin’s fight for freedom.” Among the aircrew flying the planes carrying the supplies—of which there was more than one a minute landing at the RAF station at Gatow at the busiest time—there was, for example, US airman Gail Halvorson from Utah, who earned the undying gratitude of the Berliners by dropping sweets to the children.

But the main heroes were the ordinary people of the western sectors of the city who, in spite of their hunger, spurned the offer of improved rations if they moved to the Soviet sector, and decided to rely on the Allied airlift.

The fact that the airlift was bringing relief, not just to the Allied military garrisons but to the city’s civilian population as well, was a critical factor. Not only did it make Stalin realize that the blockade was failing to starve the city into submission, to induce the Allies to withdraw, and to turn the Berliners against them, it also changed the fundamental relationship between the Western Allies and the Berliners living in their sectors. Previously, it had been that of occupiers to occupied. After the blockade ended, it became more like a partnership, in the cause of keeping West Berlin free and democratic. And in time it evolved into feelings of genuine friendship on both side.

On October 2, 1990, the day before the solemn reunification of divided Germany and Berlin, the Allied authorities in the city (of whom I was one) met for the last time and wrote a letter to the Berlin House of Representatives. “The commitment of our three countries to Berlin,” they wrote, “was based on a conviction that freedom, democracy, and self-determination must be upheld wherever and whenever they are threatened and whatever the cost. Today the world looks on Berlin and sees a triumph of freedom and the human spirit.”

The epic events of the Berlin airlift made a major contribution to this happy result.

—Sir Michael Burton


Introduction

On 31 March 1948 General Lucius D. Clay, the Military Governor of the American zone of occupation in Germany, sent a telegram from Berlin to General Omar Bradley, Chief of Staff of the US Army in Washington:

Have received a peremptory letter from Soviet Deputy Commander requiring on 24 hours notice that our military and civilian employees proceeding thru Soviet Zone to Berlin will submit to individual documentation and also will submit their personal belongings for Soviet inspection.

Likewise a permit is required from Soviet Commander for all freight brought into Berlin by military trains for the use of our occupation forces.

Obviously these conditions would make impossible travel between Berlin and our zone by American personnel except by air. Moreover, it is undoubtedly the first of a series of restrictive measures designed to drive us from Berlin….

… it is my intent to instruct our guards to open fire if Soviet soldiers attempt to enter our trains. Obviously the full consequences of this action must be understood. Unless we take a strong stand now, our life in Berlin will become impossible. A retreat from Berlin at this moment would, in my opinion, have serious if not disastrous political consequences in Europe. I do not believe that the Soviets mean war now. However, if they do, it seems to me that we might as well find out now as later. We cannot afford to be bluffed.

This message was not unexpected. It was frightening nevertheless. It announced a grave crisis in the relations between the four Powers – the United States, the Soviet Union, Britain and France – whose alliance had defeated Germany in 1945 and whose forces had occupied and run the country ever since.

The confrontation between the Soviet Union and the western allies continued for over a year. Clay was right: the Russians did, indeed, take a series of measures to drive the Americans, British and French from Berlin. By June 1948 the city was blockaded, and it seemed likely that two-and-a-half million Berliners would starve to death or be forced to accept Soviet domination. For a year the western Powers too faced a grim choice: either to surrender Berlin, and with it plans for European reconstruction, or to prepare for another tragic war on the Continent. Politicians and diplomats conducted dangerous manœuvres to avoid either terrible possibility. In that time they created a different Germany, formed new alliances in Europe and built up two opposed political and economic systems. From spring 1948 to midsummer 1949 Berlin was the hub of a European emergency and of European change.

The time to avert disaster and create security was found in an element which Clay had mentioned but whose potency no one yet understood: the air. In the air the western allies created what Berliners called a Luftbrücke, an airbridge, which carried food, coal, medicines and raw materials to beleaguered Berlin. This airlift brought more than supplies; it gave hope to the city and to much of Europe.

How the time was used, how Berlin endured the siege is the story of most of this book. To understand why the time was needed it is necessary to go back – to see why the four Powers were in Berlin and why the city was so vital to them all; why the western allies were so vulnerable to Soviet pressure; why some would countenance another world war to retain Berlin; why the West struggled to keep alive those who had so recently been their enemies; why Berliners would risk death rather than their independence.
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1

Fumbling the Peace

From summer 1945 Germany was occupied by the four armies which had done most to defeat her in the Second World War – the Russian, American, British and French. For administrative convenience they divided the country into four zones and split the city of Berlin into four sectors – one zone and one sector for each victorious Power. Berlin remained the capital of Germany, but there was no German government; the country was controlled and run by the military government of the four Powers. In so far as they had common policies, these were drawn up in Berlin by the Allied Control Council, made up of the four Military Governors of the zones.

This much, but little else, had been agreed during the war. The allies who fought Hitler had seldom considered what they would do if they won. As the American Senator Arthur H. Vandenberg put it in February 1943: “We must not fumble the peace … but there are very definite limits beyond which post-war planning cannot yet go.”1 The British Prime Minister, Winston Churchill, speaking to a Joint Session of Congress a few months later, gave one reason for this reluctance to look ahead: “We must beware of every topic, however attractive, and every tendency, however natural, which diverts our minds or energies from the supreme objective of the general victory of the United Nations.”2 That victory was far from certain.

It is easy now for historians and armchair generals to spot decisive battles and to identify strategic turning-points when victory was ensured. It was not possible then. No one could feel confident of beating Hitler until his armed forces finally surrendered. Up to the last moment, every effort and resource had to be directed to one goal: winning the war. Decisions on what to do with the peace had to wait.

The four Powers had general aims in the European war, of course. France, like other countries conquered by Hitler, sought liberation, reparation for the degradation and pillage she had suffered, and adjustment of frontiers to give her greater security in the future. The British fought at first to avoid invasion and then to overturn Nazi domination of the Continent. The Americans were fighting to stop fighting. They wanted to end their involvement in yet another quarrel which was of European not American making and which consumed vast American subsidies. They wanted to go home as soon as possible and stay there. Their visions of the future remained broad and idealistic: a world won for democracy and liberal capitalism, which would flourish under a new world organisation created to settle disputes and prevent war ever again. The Secretary of State, Cordell Hull, promised Congress in 1943: “There will no longer be need for spheres of influence, for alliances, for balance of power or any other of the special arrangements through which, in the unhappy past, the nations strove to safeguard their security or to promote their interests.”3 The Soviet Union, by contrast, was often specific and practical. Joseph Stalin, the Soviet Generalissimo, made dear to the British Foreign Secretary, Anthony Eden, in December 1941 that he wanted recognition of all the gains the Red Army had made since 1939 – the Baltic States and part of Poland, for example.4 His price for entry into the war against Japan in 1945 was to move into Manchuria, North Korea and Sakhalin.

Underlying their aims, the three great Powers – Britain, the United States and the Soviet Union – had interests which would prove incompatible. Britain was concerned with the defence of her Empire, the maintenance of preferential trading agreements with it, and her traditional search for a balance of power in Europe. The United States opposed imperialism, supported a free market, and saw old European diplomatic concepts as indefensible morally and a failure in practice. Yet Britain and the United States had agreed on a set of principles for the post-war world, the 1941 Atlantic Charter: no territorial aggrandisement by the victors and recognition of the right of liberated peoples to choose their own governments. That agreement, however, conflicted sharply with the ambitions of the Soviet Union, whose leader, Stalin, had neither negotiated nor signed it. As the war ended Soviet armies marched into Rumania, Bulgaria, Poland, Hungary and Czechoslovakia. In autumn 1944 Stalin explained to the Yugoslav communist, Milovan Djilas, the political consequences of such military deployment: “whoever occupies a country also imposes on it his own social system. Everyone imposes his own system as far as his army has power to do so. It cannot be otherwise.”5

Though few were privileged with so clear a statement of Stalin’s intentions, many suspected them. But there could be no confrontation with him while the war lasted. The alliance had to be preserved if the war were to be won. Could Stalin be persuaded to change his policies once it ended? Churchill increasingly thought not Stalin might be bullied but not persuaded. President Roosevelt was more confident: “I can handle Stalin,” he often said.6 And he believed that an alliance with Stalin was essential in the post-war period. If a world organisation were to preserve peace, then the Soviet Union must be a full member of it. If Europe were to be stabilised and rebuilt, the acceptance and assistance of Russia were essential. If Germany’s defeat were to be permanent, her military potential must be destroyed once and for all, and the Russians would have to be party to occupation until a new order had been imposed. Stalin appreciated all of this and was ready to play his part where it suited Soviet interests – in security above all. He prophesied to Djilas in 1944: “Germany will recover, and very quickly. It is a highly developed and industrial country with an extremely skilled and numerous working class and technical intelligentsia. Give them twelve to fifteen years and they’ll be on their feet again.”7 But not marching, if Stalin could help it.

On one aim at least the three Powers could agree: their coalition would fight until it received Nazi Germany’s unconditional surrender. President Roosevelt had been the first to call for it – in 1943, at Casablanca. His fellow leaders responded enthusiastically. All of them had lived with the consequences of Germany’s surrender in 1918: the myth that the German politicians had stabbed the military in the back when victory was within sight; the constant danger that Germany would wreck the peace negotiations by refusing to accept their terms; the tragic process through which the Versailles peace settlement was turned into a pretext for Nazi power and renewed war. This time, said the allies, German surrender must be total. The victors would hold the country until it was fit for re-entry into the community of nations.

* * *

The allied leaders, however, were unwilling to consider in detail how Germany’s institutions should be redesigned for that purpose. Subordinates in London and Washington struggled to draw attention to the need for long-term policies, but they were waved aside. Churchill, in the assessment of one Foreign Office official, was “quite allergic to any proposals for post-war action which he had not himself engendered, or at least discussed personally with the President of the United States.”8 There would have been little point in discussing Germany with Roosevelt. The President told his Secretary of State Cordell Hull in October 1944: “I dislike making detailed plans for a country which we do not yet occupy.”9 Stalin might have had plans, but he did not discuss them with Churchill or Roosevelt.

Yet there was one possibility which the Big Three did discuss during the war: the total dismemberment of Germany. The logic was simple: the unification of Germany by Prussia in the nineteenth century had involved two major wars (with Austria and France) and the ambitions of the new state in the twentieth century had led to two world wars. Never mind the scruples of historians and a few politicians: leaders and public alike during the Second World War blamed Germany for causing it. She must be rendered impotent and broken up.

The suggestion of dismemberment was floated by Stalin as early as December 1941, in his talks with Eden. Stalin wanted to rip out Germany’s vital organs, all of which were Prussian and were tainted in the popular imagination with militarism. The Rhineland could be made independent (though areas might be given to France to provide her with a long-sought Rhine frontier); East Prussia could go to Poland and part of Silesia too (Czechoslovakia could take the rest); and with Germany more or less dead, there would be no reason why Bavaria should not be chopped off and become a separate state.10

Alternative schemes of dismemberment were considered in Britain and in the United States. According to a folk story, diplomats in London plucked out faded old German princedoms from the Almanach de Gotha in case they could be transplanted to a recultivated Holy Roman Empire. One policy committee recommended the creation of at least eight states. In the end the Foreign Office decided to decide nothing and to wait and see if spontaneous separatist tendencies emerged. Many officials in London, however, preferred unity. They feared that the Russians might cut off their own occupied area of Germany from the rest of the country, that the remnants would turn to the West and friction would be created between the allied powers. All too accurately some Foreign Office memos were warning by 1945 that the anti-Nazi alliance must devise common policies for Germany as a whole or else there would be a de facto division of the country, and perhaps even two opposed blocs in Europe.11

In Washington an Advisory Committee of Experts, set up by the Secretary of State Cordell Hull in 1942, advised against dismemberment on the grounds that forcible division would encourage German nationalism and aggression. That did not deter the State Department from continued musing on the subject. Should Germany be broken up permanently or only for a punitive period? How many states should there be – three, five, seven? Should the Ruhr, the heart of German coal and steel production and the centre of the armaments industry, be included or put under international control? By the beginning of 1943 the State Department was tentatively considering the creation of three German states, though it was still apprehensive that this might stir up aggressive nationalism. The Department produced a policy paper in July 1943, “H-24 – Germany – Partition,” which presented all the arguments for and against. Hull decided against dismemberment.12 For the time being, so did President Roosevelt. He merely recommended to Eden in March 1943 that “we should encourage the difference and diversities that will spring up within Germany for a separatist movement and, in effect, approve a division which represents German public opinion.”13 One wonders where some British and Americans got the idea that there might be such “separatist tendencies.” Was there any evidence that Bavaria or Württemberg had stronger local patriotism than, say, Wales or Texas?

By the end of the war, however, Roosevelt had changed his mind. At the Teheran Conference (from 28 November to 1 December 1943) he talked of splitting Germany into five states and of putting the Ruhr and the Saar, as well as Hamburg with the Kiel Canal, under the United Nations or some other international body. Churchill preferred dividing most of Germany into five, then forming a confederation of the four states which met on the Danube. Stalin remained silent. The matter was dropped. The leaders gave up the leasurable diversion of drawing and colouring in fantasy maps and got on with the serious matter of winning the war.

* * *

Though the ultimate shape of Germany had not been decided and no long-term policies for governing the country had been agreed, the United States, Britain and the Soviet Union realised that a few basic arrangements for administration must be made before the end of the war. In Moscow in 1943 Anthony Eden proposed to his fellow Foreign Ministers that they should set up a clearing-house for all European problems connected with the war and its aftermath. The Soviet Foreign Minister, Vyacheslav Mikhailovich Molotov, and Hull, however, preferred to limit its brief: the European Advisory Commission (the EAC) was to stick to planning the terms of German surrender, the nature of the occupation regime, the instruments of control by the allies and the arrangements for the administration of Berlin – a challenging enough task.

The Commission was established in London at Lancaster House. It held its first meeting on 13 December 1943, then a series of formal sessions from 14 January 1944. There were three members – American, Russian and British. Perhaps there should have been a fourth. The British wanted a French representative and the Free French under General de Gaulle put in a request to join. They were blackballed by the Americans and Russians. Stalin was unwilling ever to concede any role to France. He had once suggested to Roosevelt that the victors should be a club of those who had contributed five million men to the war. (“Three million,” Churchill had put in sharply.)14 Stalin despised the French: they had “opened the gates to the enemy,” and Petain, not de Gaulle, was their true representative. Roosevelt, though less scathing about the nation as a whole, did have a strong antipathy to de Gaulle, and the United States did not recognise the French Provisional Government de jure until 24 October 1944. Only then was a French representative invited to join the European Advisory Commission. René Massigli arrived at Lancaster House in November bringing, thought Sir William Strang of the Foreign Office, “a welcome professional touch.”15 It came rather late to be of much use: most of the agreements of the Commission were already drawn up and Massigli could only witness them.

The American member of the European Advisory Commission, the ambassador to Britain John Winant, was remembered by Sir John Colville, Churchill’s Private Secretary, as a “gentle, dreamy idealist, whom most men and all women loved.”16 He was a close friend of the Churchill family and enjoyed the full confidence of Roosevelt, though in his EAC role, as will be seen, he was not able to take much advantage of it. An acquaintance reckoned that Winant was “hopeful and confident of post-war collaboration” with the Soviet Union, “though sometimes rather bewildered by the attitude of his Soviet colleague,” F. T. Gusev, the Russian Ambassador in London. However, since Winant was a nice man, he “attributed Soviet intransigence to lack of familiarity” with Americans and worked hard to overcome suspicions.17 Russian intransigence was familiar to Sir William Strang, the British representative on the EAC, from other dealings with Soviet diplomats including a pre-war mission in Moscow. He was less prepared for Gusev’s insistence on keeping everything in his head rather than available on paper. He learned to live with Gusev’s typical Russian habit of sticking out for a point for weeks or months then suddenly saying, “I have no objection,” without giving any explanation.18 Strang himself, soon to become Permanent Under-Secretary at the Foreign Office, was a professional diplomat of long experience in German affairs. He had been at Chamberlain’s meeting with Hitler in Bad Godesberg in 1939 and head of the Central (European) Department of the Foreign Office with Germany as his main concern.

Strang was the only one of the three who could devote much time to the Commission’s work – Winant and Gusev had their ambassadorial duties. He was also the only one who could act quickly – his superiors were on the spot for consultation. Gusev, on the other hand, had to refer every jot and tittle to Moscow, and there were long delays before he received instructions. Moscow was never famous for speedy dispatch of business, but in this matter Gusev’s colleagues suspected that the Soviet government was delaying on purpose: hoping their bargaining position would improve as their armies advanced.19 Winant was kept on a similarly short leash by Washington and responses were equally slow, but for different reasons.

Policy in Washington was confused and authority was divided. Throughout the war the State Department’s activities had been restricted to limited matters such as economic warfare and post-war problems such as food, relief and monetary arrangements.20 Roosevelt had virtually excluded his Secretary of State Hull from high policy decisions and from negotiations with his allies. The President kept these to himself or delegated them to the Department of War, which did not now relish the prospect of losing any of its authority. As a result the State Department did not have sole control of Winant’s activities, for all he was an ambassador and engaged in diplomatic negotiation. They had to play second fiddle to the War Department in a special liaison committee created to draw up Winant’s instructions. Within this committee the Civil Affairs Division of the War Department (the CAD) acted, in the opinion of a close observer, like lawyers protecting their client’s interests rather than as partners in a common purpose, and insisted that topics on the European Advisory Commission’s agenda, such as the future zones of occupation, were a purely military matter to be decided not in London by diplomats, but “at the proper time … at the military level.”21 In his negotiations in London Winant was that most hapless of functionaries, a servant with two masters, one of which–the CAD–did not want him. Because his masters, War and State, could not agree, he was often left without any proper briefing or instructions.

Strang, on the other hand, was fully backed by the Cabinet and Foreign Office and was well-prepared. At the very first meeting of the European Advisory Commission he put on the table a draft document for German surrender and detailed provisions for the boundaries of the future zones of allied occupation. Winant had been given no proposals of his own and no guidelines for discussing anyone else’s. He had to refer to Washington. He got no reply. Gusev, however, was relatively quick off the mark. In four days he was ready to suggest alternative surrender terms and to accept almost all the British ideas for zonal boundaries. Gusev was so quick, indeed, that the American team wondered if the British and Russians had been getting together behind the scenes. No one had thought to mention to Winant or the State Department that this was an old territorial proposal, first put to Roosevelt by Britain in November 1943 and discussed with his Chiefs of Staff.22 In early March Washington sent only an alternative draft of the surrender document, but without explanation or guidance. Winant had to wait until 8 March before getting any directive – and a brief one at that – on drawing the zonal boundaries. He would probably have preferred to do without it.

It was based on a small-scale map shown to the State Department by their rivals in Civil Affairs Division of the War Department the previous month. “Map” was hardly the word; it was more of a sketch of Germany with pencilled lines cutting the country into three segments. Once compared with a full-scale map, it was clear that the United States had been given 51 per cent of the population and 46 per cent of the territory, while the Russians got only 22 per cent of the area, population and resources. The lines slashed through existing administrative boundaries and communications.23 The border marked for the American zone stopped short of the Czech frontier.24 In spite of protests, the CAD stubbornly refused to make any adjustments. This division, they said, “represented President Roosevelt’s instructions” and was the settlement Winant must press for. The State Department was appalled, but after ten days of argument the proposal was forwarded to London.25

Winant was aghast. He sent members of his team back to Washington for clarification, and one of them, George F. Kennan, went to see the President. Roosevelt was not very interested; he was more concerned about who got which zone than where they were. When questioned, he remarked casually that the sketch was “something I once drew on the back of an envelope.”26 (Kennan was later told by an officer who went with Roosevelt to Teheran at the end of 1943 that the President had done just such a sketch to illustrate some general point he was making.) It took much argument and many cables before Washington finally agreed on 1 May that Winant could approve the British zonal proposals first put forward four and a half months before.

The European Advisory Commission now agreed that Germany was to be divided into three zones for military occupation by the United States, the Soviet Union and Britain. As far as possible the zonal lines would be drawn to give rough equality of population, area and resources, and to follow existing administrative boundaries. The members had discarded the British idea of leaving the country intact but interleaving the three armies and exercising joint control: the EAC foresaw inevitable clashes between military authorities, and confusion of supplies and communications.

The occupation zones were carved out within Germany’s 1937 frontiers. The eastern zone (Mecklenburg, Pomerania, Brandenburg, Saxony-Anhalt, Thuringia and areas to the east) was to go to the Russians. The south-western zone was made up of the Saar, Hesse-Darmstadt, Württemberg, Baden, Bavaria and areas west of the Rhine – all the best scenery, the Americans were to say. The remaining zone (Brunswick, Hesse-Nassau, the Rhine provinces including the Ruhr, and everything to the north) had all the best industry.

This was the zone the Americans would have liked, but the British were determined to get it. Its attractions were obvious: easy access to vast resources which could regenerate impoverished, exhausted Britain. It could be argued, however, that the British failed to realise that such resources needed financial investment, management skill and technical expertise if they were to be exploited. Britain had little of these; what she had would be stretched thin coping with her own post-war economy and the legacy of a run-down, nineteenth-century industry. But the dazzle of the Ruhr blinded her to these possible drawbacks and to the advantages of using American skill and capital to fuel a quick German recovery in the interests of all Europe, Britain included. Given this struggle between the Americans and the British over possession of the Ruhr, the allocation of the south-west and north-west zones was not decided in the European Advisory Commission but between Roosevelt and Churchill at the Quebec Conference in 1944, when the President accepted the land-locked south-western zone on condition that the Americans were given Bremen and Bremerhaven as supply ports for their occupation troops.

Within these three zones of occupation the EAC intended that the allied forces would exercise wide powers – wider than usually acceptable under international law. Having forced the surrender of the Nazi government, the occupation forces would take full authority over the state and use it to enforce disarmament, the demilitarisation of the economy, the denazification of institutions and the reconstruction of the country along peaceful, democratic lines. Arguments began over whether the Commission should go beyond these broad intentions and specify how they should be carried out. The British, on the one hand, produced a draft surrender document of length and complexity: seventy of its articles dealt with political and economic provisions for the future of Germany. The Americans preferred their own draft of thirteen short articles, all expressed in very general terms. This represented Roosevelt’s view that it was better to wait and see Germany’s condition before settling details of policy. The Russian draft had twenty-one sections, which revealed their own priorities. Only one article was concerned with how allied power was to be used in occupied Germany: it simply stated that the Germans must accept unconditionally whatever demands the allies might make. The rest were military provisions.27 For the Russians the stress was always on military victory; its consequences would be beyond dispute.

Unable to reconcile such diverse approaches, the Commission took refuge in the rationalisation that vagueness about occupation policy would stop the Germans fighting on to avoid a harsh settlement. The Germans might well have taken the opposite view: better the devilish terms you know than the devilish possibilities you can only imagine. In any case, the insistence on unconditional surrender, first formulated by Roosevelt and Churchill at Casablanca in 1943, had already inspired a fight to the last.

The surrender terms finally drawn up by the EAC were, therefore, left short and vague. The German government and High Command should acknowledge their defeat and announce unconditional surrender. They must then accept a brief series of military provisions on ending hostilities and disarmament. Thereafter, the three Powers had supreme authority and could present their requirements in proclamations which must be carried out without question. (As it turned out there was no German government by the end of the war and the German army surrendered piecemeal; Supreme Headquarters of the Allied Expeditionary Forces [SHAEF] forgot they had a copy of the EAC’s surrender terms so invented their own.)28

When the EAC came to discuss the means by which the occupation zones would be controlled both Strang and Gusev had drafts prepared, but Strang acknowledged that the Russian version was noticeably “simple and well-conceived and was the model on which the final text was framed.”29 The Commission’s “Agreement on Control Machinery” was to establish Military Governors with full power in their respective zones. Gusev would have preferred to stress this zonal responsibility of the Military Governors. The final “Agreement,” however, emphasised that their primary duty was to act collectively in the Allied Control Council and to reach common policies on such matters as the disbanding of the German armed services, disarmament, the eradication of Nazism, the return to a peacetime economy, and preparations for German government and administration based on democratic principles. Yet any chance of Germany being run as a single unit was wrecked by the Commission’s proposal that all decisions in the ACC must be unanimous. The EAC seems to have agreed this with little hesitation. Perhaps reasonable prudence had been swept away by the atmosphere of the discussions on the “Agreement,” which Strang described as “the most agreeable of the whole series,” conducted “without acrimony and in a constructive spirit.” By putting “unanimity” on paper the EAC did not create it. The Commission gave each Power in the Allied Control Council a veto, a destructive weapon whose use would prevent the formulation of common policies and bring fatal discord into four-Power government.

The EAC’s blueprint for administering Berlin was equally doomed. Berlin had been the capital of Germany since unification in 1871. It was, therefore, the prime political target for the allies and, since it was long assumed that the city would be the heart of Nazi resistance to the invaders, it was also their main strategic aim. The EAC’s drawing of the zonal boundaries had left Berlin deep inside the designated Russian zone. The Commission had toyed briefly with a British speculation that the lines of occupation might converge on an alternative city – Leipzig, for example – so that a central military government could be set up in Tom Tiddler’s ground.30 But Berlin’s symbolic and bureaucratic dominance was too strong. The Commission decided that the city must be the seat of the Allied Control Council and that it would have to be divided between the three occupation Powers into three sectors. It was proposed, however, that it would be administered as one unit by a Kommandatura of the three Military Commandants. Yet, as in the ACC, all Kommandatura decisions must be unanimous. Each Commandant had a veto. Deadlock had been built into the system – and, in due course, would wreck it.

How would the British and Americans get to their sectors of Berlin, maintain their garrisons and keep contact with their zones? The EAC did no more than sketch a few hazy lines of communication with the city by road and rail. A much more precise plan had been urged on the State Department by Philip E. Moseley, Winant’s adviser. As he explained later: “I believed that the dignity and security of the American authorities to be installed eventually in Berlin required that provision be made in advance for free and direct territorial access to Berlin from the West.”31 He wanted a wide corridor under the control of the Americans and British through the Russian zone to Berlin. But his idea was never taken up in Washington. In Moseley’s opinion, it was blocked by malign and short-sighted interference by the Civil Affairs Division of the War Department, ever anxious to keep civilians out of military preserves. Winant himself returned to Washington in May 1944 and raised the problems of access with the CAD. He had been constantly reassured by Gusev that there would be “no difficulty”; “of course” Anglo-American presence in Berlin automatically carried with it the right of access. Even so, Winant thought it might be better to get something in writing. No, said the CAD, nothing specific; how could anyone foresee what American military requirements might be? Who knew what roads would be convenient or even undestroyed? This, they insisted, was another “purely military matter” to be left to the soldiers on the spot.32

Winant had shown that he recognised the importance of the matter, but he had been overruled by the CAD; perhaps he felt he could do no more, given their attitude. He was certainly anxious to keep Russian co-operation and finish the work of the EAC; probably he decided to avoid a show-down over access. But his reaction whenever the matter was raised suggests he was ill at ease. Robert Murphy, Eisenhower’s Political Adviser on German Affairs, was told in September by a State Department colleague, James Riddleberger, that when he put to Winant the idea of avoiding the access problem by redrawing the zonal lines as slices of a pie converging on Berlin, the Ambassador slapped him down. They had further clashes, during one of which, said Riddleberger, “Winant accused me of not having any faith in Soviet intentions and I replied that on this he was exactly right” Many of Winant’s other assistants in London also tried to explain their anxieties about access. They always got the same reply: “The Ambassador does not wish to press the matter now.” When finally in September Murphy insisted that a written access agreement was vital, Winant was decidedly tetchy. “You have no right to come along at this late date and make such a proposal just after we have agreed on a draft,” he snapped. He told Murphy that this draft had only been possible because “he had established a personal relationship with Ambassador Gusev, after months of patient effort, and had gained the Soviet envoy’s confidence.” Winant would not hazard that relationship now and damage the chances of future agreements. He assured Murphy that the right of free access to Berlin was implicit and warned that the Russians “were inclined to suspect our motives anyway and if we insisted on this technicality we would intensify their distrust. He would not do it.”33

Murphy would probably have got the same response from Strang, who also saw the maintenance of co-operation with the Russians as essential. Strang had been given no instructions on the question of access and had decided that the allies would get Russian permission to enter Vienna only if they wore kid gloves over Berlin. When he came to write his memoirs, with all the benefits of hindsight Sir William still reckoned that Gusev would have fended off requests for written guarantees of access to Berlin by claiming that this was a small matter for the military commanders to adjust at their own convenience. Furthermore, he argued that a written agreement on specific routes could have been interpreted as a denial of rights over any and all routes. But in spite of his explanations, the brutal fact remains that at this crucial stage the British and Americans did not take the opportunity to insist on guarantees of free access, for which they had a perfect right and every need. Even Strang was to concede that “the possibility of such an agreement did exist then, and perhaps only then.”34 Britain and the United States gambled on Russian verbal assurances and continued co-operation – and they lost.

By an appalling irony, the British and Americans, who cheerfully trusted the Russians, did not have such confidence in each other and they conducted a long dispute in the European Advisory Commission about a different access question: how the Americans would get to Bremen and Bremerhaven through the British zone. In this case the United States insisted that they must have specified road and rail links and total control over them; the British put their foot down and refused any such guarantees. Echoing Gusev and the CAD, the British promised that there would be no difficulty over transit to the ports and that everything could be settled by the military on the spot.35 Their verbal undertaking and allied goodwill proved entirely adequate. The British and American armies came to satisfactory arrangements and kept to them.

The military, however, made no attempt to reach an early settlement of the Berlin access question, though some individuals, having failed with the politicians, kept trying to convince the soldiers of the need for one. When Murphy raised the matter at allied headquarters, neither General Eisenhower nor his staff was interested. The war still had to be won and in its final months, in Murphy’s judgment, Eisenhower “consistently differentiated between decisions which had to be made before the surrender – which he regarded as military matters which directly concerned him – and decisions which were to go into effect after the surrender–primarily political and diplomatic business.”36 The General was acting on a sound liberal military principle: fighting is for soldiers, policy is for politicians. The politicians had so far shirked too many of the decisions needed for coping with the consequences of eventual German surrender.

The Big Three – Roosevelt, Stalin and Churchill – failed yet again to address adequately many fundamental German problems when they met in full conference with their diplomatic staffs and Foreign Ministers at Yalta in the Crimea from 4 to 11 February 1945.

The old leaders of the wartime alliance were coming together for the last time. President Roosevelt would be dead in two months. He was already clearly ill. The official explanation was that the President was suffering from a bad cold and infected sinuses, but many people suspected his condition was more grave. It was noticeable that he had been too unwell to do much preparation for the conference.37 Churchill would be replaced as Prime Minister later in the year after losing a general election. Only Stalin would survive to loom over the peace of Europe. Here, at the conference, he seemed to have the greatest natural authority of the three, for all that he said little and waited until discussions were nearly over before putting forward quiet, seemingly reasonable suggestions.38

Roosevelt had come to Yalta with two aims: to get the Soviet Union’s help in the war against Japan and its acceptance of his proposals for the structure of the United Nations. He got both, a result he saw as a diplomatic triumph and a sign of Russian goodwill. He now had renewed confidence that by maintaining partnership with the Russians in peace as well as in war, there would be ample opportunity to influence and restrain them. Roosevelt certainly sensed the range of Soviet ambition and foresaw that Russian armies would attempt to impose Soviet domination over the countries through which they advanced to Germany. But he told Hull there was no point in protesting at this stage: the western Powers could do nothing to contain the Soviet Union as yet, and preservation of the alliance was paramount.39 Instead of confronting the Russians at Yalta, he encouraged Stalin to join him in sniping at Churchill over British imperialism.

This must have been galling for Churchill. He was deeply anxious about the rapidity of Russian military advance and filled with forebodings about Stalin’s own imperialistic intentions. He had no faith in Roosevelt’s cherished United Nations as a World Instrument for Peace, nor any hope for European peace if Nazi hegemony were replaced by Soviet domination. He knew that the smaller states were powerless and Britain alone was too weak to check Russian expansion. That needed American force. He soon learned it would not be available. Roosevelt announced at Yalta that his troops would stay in Europe for no more than two years after victory.

What delightful news this must have been for Stalin. He certainly wanted an American presence for a while to smash German military might and to force the delivery of reparations to his devastated country. Thereafter, he would welcome American departure. The Soviet Union would then be the only Power in Europe, finding security in a bastion of satellites, consolidating her gains and perhaps adding to them.

Though the views of the three leaders at Yalta diverged, they preserved an image of unity by imposing on themselves a punishing discipline of public smiles, backslapping and feasting. Russian hospitality was lavish, but demanding. There were thirty-eight standing toasts at one dinner (the worldly-wise who watered their vodka presumably still found it hard to stand by the end). Even sitting was not very comfortable – mosquitoes attacked the ankles.40 It was some help to the head and liver that the daily plenary sessions did not start until 4 p.m.

The talks ranged over a wide area of European problems. As far as Germany was concerned, the Big Three could at least agree to destroy militarism and Nazism. Their final communique stressed that it “is not our purpose to destroy the people of Germany,” but that “only when Nazism and militarism have been extirpated will there be hope for a decent life for Germans and a place for them in the comity of nations.” As a German nation state?

The proposal of dismemberment was revived by Stalin on 5 February; Roosevelt agreed that it was desirable, but one observer thought he was “just giving lip service to a dying idea.”41 Later the President told officials to “study and postpone” a final decision. During the talks Churchill seemed to agree to the principle of breaking up Germany, but in fact he was coming to believe that a united country might be needed by western Europe as a buffer against the Soviet Union. Six weeks after Yalta he was to say: “I hardly like to consider dismemberment until my doubts about Russian intentions have been cleared away.”42 Though Stalin himself had raised the topic, he too must already have been abandoning the idea. On 9 May, without consulting his allies, he issued a message to the German people: “the Soviet Union has no intention of dismembering or destroying Germany.”

A strong motive for the Russians’ interest in German unity was surely their wish for reparations. They might calculate that the Soviet Union could feed better on the milk from a large cow than on a butchered carcase. At Yalta Stalin asked for $10 billion worth of reparations out of a total of $20 billion. The British wanted reparations too, though they accepted that they deserved less than the Soviet Union, because they had made a smaller contribution to the war and had suffered less destruction in the process. Churchill and Roosevelt, however, preferred not to fix any sums until the capacity of German industry was examined, and the Americans were anxious to avoid a repetition of the reparations farce after the last war when the United States had poured loans into Germany so that others could siphon off their dues. Even so, a secret protocol was agreed: reparations would be paid to those who had carried “the main burden of the war” and “suffered the heaviest losses.” These reparations would be in three categories: for two years the allies would remove industrial equipment, machine-tools, ships, rolling-stock, foreign investments and shares in German industrial and transport enterprises and, in so doing, destroy war potential; every year for an unspecified period they would take deliveries from current production; for another undefined period they would use German labour in reconstruction. The protocol did not give any figures or sum total: a committee must first study Germany’s ability to pay. However, Roosevelt had unguardedly suggested that it might take Stalin’s figures of $20 billion as “a basis for discussion.” Stalin took the figure as much more: a promise, and a promise he intended to have honoured.

The three leaders ratified the European Advisory Commission’s drafts on occupation zones, the Allied Control Council and the sectors of Berlin, seemingly without alarm at their inadequacies and dangers. They did, however, stumble on a new difficulty: should France be invited to share in the occupation of Germany? Stalin thought not, for all his usual reasons. Roosevelt was reluctant to add another Power in case all the lesser allies then demanded a share too. Churchill, on the other hand, pressed hard for the inclusion of France. The British had always wanted to spread the burden of occupation. Now that the United States threatened to leave Europe within two years, it seemed that there would be no Power on the Continent to balance the Soviet Union; Churchill was, therefore, anxious to bolster Britain’s position with French support. He at last persuaded his colleagues to give France a zone. Even so, Stalin resolutely refused to allow her any of the territory earmarked for the Soviet Union. The French zone would have to be carved out of the American and British areas by the EAC. Though Stalin and Roosevelt both conceded the French a role in occupation, they held out against France joining the Allied Control Council. It took an alliance of Churchill and Harry Hopkins (the presidential adviser) to convince Roosevelt that this was illogical. Once the President capitulated, Stalin simply raised his arms in the air: “I surrender.”43

The gift of a zone drew no thanks from the French. General de Gaulle was already sulking – resentful of his country’s lack of influence in the councils of war, sour at not being invited to Yalta and hurt that Roosevelt had not visited him on the way there. The gift only made him sulk the more: he had not been consulted about it. He now refused to play any part while the European Advisory Commission drew the boundaries of the French zone.44 This might seem like taking a slice off his nose to spite his face, but de Gaulle had a very long and very proud nose. His pride and complexes were shared by his compatriots. The other leaders would rue the day they had offended France; the other Military Governors of Germany would lament that France had ever been asked to share the occupation.

The decisions on Germany taken at Yalta were not happy; many of them created more problems than they solved. Too many aspects of long-term policy for governing occupied Germany had been brushed under the carpet; all contentious matters had been avoided for fear of damaging the alliance. Significantly, the question of Anglo-American access to Berlin had not even been mentioned. Given the failures of the politicians, the realities of post-war Germany were in fact settled by the armies advancing across Germany’s frontiers. Crucial among them was the fate of Berlin.
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Who Is Going to Take Berlin?

Germany’s frontiers were first breached in the east, in the second week of January 1945, by the Red Army. Marshal Koniev fought through the gap and on to German soil. By the end of the month another deep salient, established by Marshal Zhukov, brought the Russians to within forty-eight miles of Berlin. Sheer momentum, Zhukov thought, might now carry him to the city. But the speed of the thrust seems to have taken Stalin by surprise; perhaps, suspicious as ever, he could not believe his luck. He did not give the order to advance. Instead, he claimed that the German army was not as vulnerable as it appeared, insisted on building up his own forces and turned the main attack to Upper Silesia and the Baltic. While Zhukov champed at the bit and Stalin preached caution, German reinforcements arrived on the eastern front and strengthened the defences of Berlin.

In the west the allies had lagged behind. They had been held up and badly mauled by a daring German counter-offensive in the Ardennes in December 1944. Though the German army then dug in on its last major defensive line, the steep east bank of the Rhine, an American patrol on 7 March found one bridge intact at Remagen. Within eighteen days the entire Allied Expeditionary Force had crossed the river. It advanced against weakened opposition and enveloped the Ruhr. German troops began to surrender in their thousands – knowing the war was over and preferring a western prisoner-of-war camp to transfer to the Russian front. By the end of March 1945 the western allies were 200 miles from Berlin, but their way was open; the Russians were only thirty-five miles away, but they were being hammered by ferocious German resistance – and Stalin had still not ordered a full assault on the German capital.

Field Marshal Montgomery on the allied northern flank wanted to push on to Berlin. He was convinced he could get there; others were not. At Supreme Headquarters of the Allied Expeditionary Forces there was some appreciation of his great military talents, but there was also a feeling that “if anything was to be done quickly, don’t give it to Monty … Monty would have needed at least six months to prepare an attack on Berlin.”1 Eisenhower’s respect for Montgomery was balanced by his irritation at the Field Marshal’s prima donna behaviour and arrogance towards American generals; he would not have been pleased to see Berlin fall to Monty. Real strategic considerations rather than personal pique, however, governed Eisenhower’s decision on where his next move should be. SHAEF estimated, perhaps wrongly, that the capture of Berlin would cost up to 100,000 casualties. Given the confirmation at Yalta of the future Soviet zone of occupation, such losses were, as General Bradley argued, a “pretty stiff price to pay for a prestige objective, especially when we’ve got to fall back and let the other fellow take over.”2 Eisenhower agreed with him: “Why should we endanger the life of a single American or British soldier to capture areas we soon will be handing over to the Russians?” he kept saying at staff meetings.3 And he ceased to see Berlin as his major strategic target. He came to believe intelligence reports that Hitler would order a last stand in the southern mountains round Berchtesgaden; it might be better to direct the bulk of allied forces there. Either way – Berlin or Berchtesgaden – it made sense to meet the Red Army as soon as possible and to forge an axis on which they could all turn north or south as required. The shortest line to meet the Russians ended at Dresden, which faced Eisenhower’s centre under the command of the estimable, dependable General Omar Bradley. The centre must make the main thrust.

On 28 March General Eisenhower, without thinking it necessary to consult his allies or Washington, sent a telegram to Stalin suggesting that their armies meet at Dresden. One can only suppose that he thought contact with a self-styled Generalissimo was a purely military matter. Eisenhower, the non-political soldier, seemed unaware that he was making a fundamentally political approach to a man for whom everything was political. Stalin’s response was warm, approving and mendacious: Dresden was an excellent meeting-place, he replied, and Berlin had indeed lost its former strategic importance – which was why the Red Army was allocating only secondary forces to it.4

When the British learned of Eisenhower’s telegram, they were outraged. They protested to General George C. Marshall, the American Chief of Staff, about the disregard for Berlin and Eisenhower’s unilateral negotiation with Stalin. On 31 March Churchill urged Eisenhower to advance as far east as possible lest the Russians capture both Berlin and Vienna: “If we deliberately leave Berlin to them … the double event may strengthen their conviction, already apparent, that they have done everything” to beat Hitler. British complaints, however, served only to stoke American determination. Washington was fully persuaded by Eisenhower’s strategic reasoning and resented criticism of their outstandingly successful commander. Churchill was sensitive to this reaction and concerned not to damage the alliance at such a crucial moment. He wrote a paean of praise of Eisenhower to President Roosevelt (copy to the General), but even so repeated: “I deem it highly important that we should shake hands with the Russians as far to the east as possible.”

This political crisis between the allies was dearly distressing to Eisenhower. He wrote to Marshall on 7 April insisting that his decision to leave Berlin and concentrate on Dresden was made on purely military grounds and for the best of military reasons. “I am the first to admit that war is waged in pursuance of political aims,” he told Marshall, “and if the combined Chiefs of Staff should decide that the Allied effort to take Berlin outweighs purely military considerations in this theatre, I would cheerfully readjust my plans and my thinking so as to carry out such an operation.” But the Combined Chiefs did not make that decision; no new directive was sent to Eisenhower. The order to attack Berlin was given by Stalin to the Red Army.

Patently Stalin had already decided on it when he gave his baited answer to Eisenhower on 28 March. On 1 April he held a conference in Moscow with Marshals Koniev and Zhukov and his military advisers. In spite of what Eisenhower had revealed of SHAEF thinking, this conference was solemnly assured that the Anglo-American forces were about to mount an offensive on Berlin and that Montgomery was taking command. Stalin, having goaded his men, gave the last touch of the spur. “Well now,” he asked, “who is going to take Berlin? Will we or the Allies?”5 His question was the signal for a race to Berlin – not between the western allies and the Red Army, as Stalin implied, but between Zhukov and Koniev, the track cleared for them by Eisenhower.

To attack Berlin the Russians assembled two-and-a-half million men, 7,560 aircraft, 6,250 tanks and 41,600 artillery pieces: only just enough given the resistance they met. To the natural defences of the city – rivers, marshes, the Seelow Heights in the east – the Germans had added five defence lines for the outer approaches, three defence belts for the city itself. These gun emplacements, bomb-proof bunkers and walls of rubble were manned by seasoned fighters who expected no mercy from the Red Army. Would they have fought with such passion to the bitter end if the assault had been made by the western allies and not the dreaded Russians?

While the Red Army moved up its men and materiel by dark or under camouflage, the western forces in all ignorance continued to bomb Berlin for them. The US cavalry raced east and, on 11 April, the first American tanks reached the Elbe. A combat group forced the passage of the river and, by the evening of 12 April, three battalions had crossed and were digging in while more crossings were made above and below them. On 14 April these advance units were stunned to learn they were forbidden to go on. General Eisenhower was sending the bulk of his forces either up to Denmark or down the Danube valley to link up with the Red Army; there would be no move on Berlin. Bradley had pleaded with Eisenhower, and General Patton had gasped: “I don’t see how you figure that one. We had better take Berlin and quick.”6 Ike would not budge. He had only 50,000 men over the Elbe and they were way ahead of support troops or fighter cover. Since the British still urged him to press on to Berlin, Eisenhower flew to London on 17 April to convince Churchill that the city must be left to the Russians: the Red Army had more men, he argued; they must be denied Denmark and the North Sea; and if the western allies pushed down south of Stuttgart, they could capture German atomic research facilities and the (imaginary) Redoubt.

By that date it was, in fact, too late for Eisenhower to change his mind. On 16 April, while it was still dark, three red flares went up on Zhukov’s front line signalling the start of a grim and bloody battle. Given the intensity of German resistance, the Russians had to make horrific sacrifices to advance a mere eighteen miles in four days. But by the evening of 20 April, the first Red Army combat units had reached the outskirts of Berlin. Thousands of Berliners hid in cellars, U-bahn (underground railway) stations and railway tunnels, while crack troops, old men and boys fought street by street, building by building, floor by floor against Russian artillery and tanks; pockets of German defence were cleaned out with grenades and flame-throwers. On 22 April Berliners began to hang out sheets in surrender or to wave red strips tom from Nazi banners to appease the invaders. The SS went round and shot them. Though Koniev had penetrated to within 150 yards of the Reichstag (the home of the old German parliament), Stalin decided to award that prize to Zhukov. He had to fight for three more days before he could take it. On 25 April, as the last link between the Russian fronts was snapped shut round Berlin, the first Russian and American patrols met on the Elbe. On the 29th Hitler at last glimpsed the reality of defeat and, too late to save the lives of hundreds of thousands of Berliners and fighting men, took his own. That evening a Red Victory Banner fluttered from the roof of the Reichstag, though on lower floors defenders still fought on with machine-guns.

At last at 6 a.m. on 2 May 1945 the Red Army accepted the surrender of the city and Soviet guns ceased fire. By Russian calculation the epic defence of Berlin had cost the Germans 480,000 captured men, but no one knew how many dead. In the final three weeks 304,887 Russians had been killed, wounded or declared missing. Neither side had spared civilians: 100,000 Berliners had perished. Their city was now 25 million cubic metres of rubble, pierced in places with jagged fingers of blackened masonry. There was no electricity, no transport except by boat along the flooded lines of the underground railway, little drinking water and even less food. A few people scavenged in the ruins; many still lay in the fetid cellars, afraid. Their fear now was not of artillery or flame-throwers but of bayonets and rape.

The first Red Army troops into Berlin had been disciplined, tidily uniformed, even shaven. The second wave was a horde. These men raped. Having raped, they sometimes offered the woman bread or patted the cheek of a child who had looked on; at other times they kicked the child, stabbed her protesting mother. And they looted. Alcohol first, then anything they could lay their hands on: watches, bicycles, curtains, boots, half a piano. What they could not carry away, they smashed. Looting was not just carried out by individuals on the rampage but officially as policy. Factories were stripped and the contents taken away on Red Army lorries. Such was the greed that machinery was thrown from windows or hacked to pieces to get it through doors. Anything was pillaged, even light fittings, technical drawings, telephones and correspondence.

It could be argued, and with truth, that the Russians had suffered all this and worse when the Nazis invaded the Soviet Union; that they had experienced murder and wholesale robbery, extermination squads, gas vans and all the bestialities of the SS. Perhaps it might be thought natural that they should now want revenge as well as victory. Yet they raped and looted too in the countries they claimed to liberate. Milovan Djilas had protested against the outrages of the Red Army in Yugoslavia in autumn 1944. Stalin had wept, but only at the insult to his army. Could Djilas not understand, he sobbed, “if a soldier who has crossed thousands of kilometres through blood and fire and earth has fun with a woman or takes some trifles?”7 So in the name of what Stalin called “fun” Berlin women of all ages were raped, often repeatedly; they sought treatment for revolting injuries at hospitals with no medical supplies, they bore unwanted babies and endured syphilis when there was no penicillin. What was left of Berlin homes was pillaged and burnt; precious family belongings were danced on by drunken soldiers, priceless national treasures were crushed. The military authorities did nothing to stem the violence. Soviet political commissars could only look on. But one of them warned: “This will cost us a million roubles a day – political roubles.”8

He was right. Dreadful though the military assault on Berlin had been, it was the violation that followed which left ineradicable bitterness in Berliners and hardened their view of Russians for ever after. The Soviet authorities planned to follow the actual siege of the city with a metaphorical political investment. Though superficially this campaign seemed successful for a time, severe limits had been set to its effectiveness by the barbarity of the troops in those horrible early days. The Red Army lost Berlin politically at the moment it captured it militarily.

To carry out the political conquest of Berlin, the Red Army had brought with them SMERSH (counter-intelligence), political commissars and the NKVD (later the KGB). In addition, a cadre of ten Moscow-trained German communists was to establish communist institutions and an administration designed not just for the future Soviet sector but for the whole city. Their leader was Walter Ulbricht, a man in his early fifties and a full-time German Communist Party official since the 1920s. He had been trained at the Lenin School in Moscow, worked at Comintern headquarters for three years then, unable to return home while Hitler was in power, fought in the Spanish Civil War before moving back to Moscow to plan the future of Germany. Some members of Ulbricht’s team were still in the dark about what their duties in Berlin were to be. The youngest of them, Wolfgang Leonhard, had merely been exhorted in the most general terms to eradicate Fascism and transform Germany into a democracy.9 Ulbricht, however, knew exactly what must be done. He explained in an interview many years later: “We had worked out all the details from the setting up of the administration to the organisation of culture. We also had a list of opponents of Hitler whom we assumed lived in Berlin…. Thus prepared we arrived in Germany on 30 April, and on I May we reached Berlin and began work immediately.”10

The city, to Leonhard’s eyes, was “like a picture of Hell; flaking ruins and starving people shambling about in tattered clothing”; dazed German soldiers, drunk Red Army troops; long queues with buckets at stand-pipes; “all of them looking terribly tired, hungry, tense and demoralised.”11 The Moscow cadre soon made contact with a self-help group, busy distributing food, clearing rubble and repairing water supplies. All such teams were broken up; every activity must be directed by Ulbricht and his Central Committee. From mid-May he held regular Sunday morning meetings with 80 to 100 communists from every part of Berlin to get an overall picture and co-ordinate their work. These men then took control of local groups formed to restore order in their neighbourhoods.

Meanwhile the Moscow comrades raced round the city with their lists of “anti-Fascists” and made lists of their own: of communist sympathisers, suitable people for administrative jobs, empty buildings, stores, vehicles, repair materials. Working through the Red Army the Moscow group got small shops reopened, guards posted on food depots and supplies sent to hospitals. The Army struggled to restore electricity, gas, water and transport. People’s committees of old left-wing party workers and Russian appointees chose local men to carry out orders from Ulbricht and the Soviet commanders and to distribute food. By 15 May there were ration cards for allocation. To supervise the rations and to run restored services a city administration was needed – known in Berlin as the Magistrat. An acceptable figurehead was found for Mayor: on 17 May the Soviet military authorities appointed Dr. Werner, a decent, rather colourless non-party man. The key figure, however, in the city government was his deputy Karl Maron, a communist émigré trained in the Soviet Union since the 1930s and part of the Moscow group. Seven of the sixteen departmental chiefs were communists; the heads of personnel and of education were also members of the Moscow cadre; another Deputy Mayor was flown in from the Soviet Union; Ottomar Geschke and Hans Jendretzky (labour and social welfare) were plucked from concentration camps; the heads of information and communications had both been at the Anti-Fascist School in the Soviet Union. This political pattern for the central city administration was then set for local governments in the twenty Bezirke (boroughs) of Berlin. Here again the mayors were not communist: in working-class districts they were usually old Social Democrats; in the middle-class areas they came more often from the conservative parties. Thereafter, at least half the specialist posts such as health, transport and finance went to experts or Social Democrats; But the senior deputy mayor who ran the personnel department, and the heads of education and the police, were always communists. As Ulbricht cynically put it: “it’s got to look democratic but we must have everything in our control.”12 Particular care was taken in choosing officials for the Bezirke in the sectors to be taken over by the western forces. Key posts still went to communists, but no more than a third of them in any administration in the hope that the allies would scarcely notice and confirm the appointments en bloc.

While the new machinery of local government was put in place, the Red Army tackled other aspects of city life. In the name of denazification, all “Fascist” shopkeepers had their trading licences withdrawn; all business associations and professional organisations were disbanded, then recreated under the supervision of the Magistrat and given “political tasks.” Every bank was closed except the Berliner Stadtbank, whose headquarters was set up in the Soviet zone. There too social insurance was restarted. The judiciary was purged: educated and experienced lawyers were replaced with Party nominees or, on one occasion, by the first man a Russian officer met in the street. Newspapers were dosed and new ones founded – first the Tägliche Rundschau on 15 May, a German-language paper published by the Red Army, next the Berliner Zeitung, an organ of the city government Papers then allowed to reopen were obliged to print in the Soviet sector under supervision. Radio Berlin was licensed to broadcast, but its staff worked with Russian officers breathing down their necks and every word to be spoken was censored. A new police force was created. Many of its members were old employees, but its chief was Colonel Paul Markgraf, a former prisoner of war in the Soviet Union and a graduate of communist training.

The Russians were not content with laying the foundations of a new communist order in Berlin. They set about installing a system through which they could control their entire zone, with institutions which could be extended throughout Germany. On 9 June a proclamation, Order No. I, established the Soviet Military Administration (SMA) for the Russian zone. It controlled military administrations in each Land (province), openly issued instructions to them on political, economic, social and cultural matters, and covertly supervised their members. The SMA reported directly to Stalin – a clear indication of the importance he attached to Germany.

Other Russian moves to control their zone and beyond were hidden in democratic camouflage. Trades unions were allowed to re-form in June and to set up an all-party committee to foster amalgamation. From the beginning this committee was strongly influenced by its communist members. The SMA’s Order No. 2 permitted the creation of “anti-Fascist” political parties, not just in the Soviet sector and zone but the whole of Germany. First into the field came the KPD (the German Communist Party), all prepared on 11 June with a leader, Wilhelm Pieck from the Moscow group, and with a programme. Its manifesto was an unpleasant surprise for loyal old communists: Marx and Engels were not mentioned, the word “socialism” was never used, and the Soviet system was said not to “correspond to present-day conditions of development in Germany.” The new party was told to work for “a democratic anti-Fascist regime, a parliamentary democratic republic with full democratic rights and liberties for the people,” and – of all Marxist nightmares – to encourage “complete and unrestricted development of free commerce and private enterprise on the basis of private property.” In other words, the new party claimed to be interested in a bourgeois liberal state, not a proletarian Marxist revolution. In fact, its programme was a carefully calculated cover for real communist intentions. When the manifesto was read aloud, one bemused listener asked how it differed from that of any other party. “You’ll soon see, Comrade,” promised Ulbricht “Just wait a bit.”13

There were only a few days to wait for a full-blooded socialist programme, conceived without guidance from Moscow – that of the new SPD (Social Democratic Party). This rousingly promised co-operative agriculture and the nationalisation of all banks, insurance, mining, raw materials and energy. It called for the “organisational unity of the working class,” and some of the members of the central committee of the SPD did, indeed, hope to merge with the KPD. They were rebuffed, however, by Ulbricht on 19 June with a warning against “premature fusion.” Ulbricht was, in fact, waiting for a much bigger grouping through which all parts of the political spectrum could be manipulated. Necessary elements for it appeared in the following month. A new party was formed, the CDU (Christian Democratic Union), consisting of old conservatives expressing their religious beliefs in a commitment to the fair use of labour and resources. And the LPD (Liberal Party) was revived. Now Ulbricht was ready to encourage the creation of a bloc of the “anti-Fascist democratic” parties with a committee of five nominated members from each to decide policy. By this time the western allies had at last got into Berlin.

They had been an unconscionable time arriving. The Americans had, in fact, been nearly there: they had penetrated the Russian-designated zone on a 400-mile front, in some places to a depth of 120 miles, and occupied Saxony and Thuringia. The US Army was within an hour or two’s drive of the city, but the Soviet Union had kept them out. The Russians, having made sure that they and they alone took Berlin, then held it for two whole months and, while claiming to “restore order” or “clear mines,” they constructed a political booby-trap for the allies. A few outsiders guessed what was going on. George Kennan, for instance, wrote to Washington on 19 May from the American embassy in Moscow pointing out that the Soviet regime itself had been “forged in the chaotic aftermath of the last war” and the Russians well knew that in the confusion following a military conflict lines are drawn “which congeal into permanency and determine the overall pattern of the future.” Kennan warned that the Soviet leaders “attach even greater importance to the decisions of the next few weeks than to the decisions of possible future peace conferences.” Such decisions would be seen by them as “largely the products of the actual blows that will have been struck while the iron was hot.”14

Such Cassandra cries fell on deaf presidential ears. Roosevelt would probably have ignored them, given his anxiety to keep the Russian alliance, but he had died on 12 April. His successor, Harry S. Truman, was not ready to listen. Having unexpectedly taken office, he had inherited other men’s words and promises and felt obliged to honour them. He became impatient with those who tried to make him alter policies. From the day he became President, Truman was inundated with messages from Churchill recommending him to press for a summit meeting with Stalin and warning against withdrawal from Saxony and Thuringia until a satisfactory settlement was reached over Soviet policy in Germany and eastern Europe. Truman was determined to stick to the European Advisory Commission’s agreement on German occupation zones. Furthermore, he shared Roosevelt’s belief that one could do business with Stalin – and Truman’s style of business was frank and man to man. While some of his advisers (Averell Harriman, James Forrestal, Admiral William Leahy among them) argued for a show-down with the Soviet Union before any troop withdrawal, while Churchill cabled on 12 May that “an iron curtain is drawn down” on areas held by the Red Army, Truman sent Harry Hopkins to Moscow to announce that the United States had no ambitions in eastern Europe: “Our only interests concern world peace.”15 Hopkins came back “bubbling with enthusiasm” about Soviet friendliness and assured everyone “Stalin will co-operate.”16 Truman felt he must nurture that friendliness. Any outstanding worries could be soothed away at a forthcoming peace conference. The United States, with two million armed men in Europe and Saxony and Thuringia occupied, could have driven a hard bargain with the Soviet Union at this stage. Neither the politicians nor the military thought it right to do so. The priority was still preservation of the Russian alliance; the prevailing mood was one of confidence in ultimate reason and mutual help. The western armies would wait to enter Berlin until it was convenient for the Red Army to allow them in.

At least Eisenhower himself managed to pay a brief visit to the city on 5 June – a month after Zhukov had installed himself. He went with the British and French Commanders-in-Chief, Montgomery and Jean de Lattre de Tassigny, to meet Marshal Zhukov at his headquarters. The four had unfinished business: the European Advisory Commission documents on assumption of supreme power; the zones and sectors and the Allied Control Council so painstakingly prepared months ago had not even been signed let alone put into effect. The circumstances of this meeting were grotesque. Under allied agreement in the EAC and at Yalta the western Powers had every right to be in occupation of the city from the moment of its surrender and should have immediately established the Military Government for Germany. Instead they were now in Berlin as guests of Zhukov, and he refused point-blank to set up the Allied Control Council. As the American report of the meeting put it: “Zhukov made it clear that he was willing to meet periodically to discuss matters not relating to governing Germany as a whole, but that any steps to set up control machinery must await withdrawal into the agreed zones.”17 Nor would the Marshal make any other concessions until that time. Eisenhower asked if he might leave a staff to arrange American entry into Berlin. No, said Zhukov, not until all troops were in their prescribed areas.18 The western commanders weakly marked their displeasure by refusing a Russian invitation to dinner, but that was the limit of their protest. In their anxiety not to give offence, they had given irrevocable advantages to the Russians at a time when they still held bargaining counters. They meekly left Berlin – abandoning it to the Russians for another few weeks.

While the US Army began to plan withdrawal from Saxony and Thuringia, Churchill pleaded for them to stay put. He had warned Truman on 4 June that he viewed “with profound misgivings the retreat of the American Army to our own line of occupation … bringing Soviet power into the heart of Western Europe,” and again talked in terms of “the descent of an iron curtain between us and everything to the eastward.”19 Churchill kept up the attack until, on 11 June, Truman silenced him by pointing out sharply that the occupation zones had been agreed by the British themselves “after long and detailed discussion” in the EAC and at Yalta. In addition, the President enclosed a message he had drafted to Stalin suggesting 21 June as the date for American withdrawal. Churchill gave up. For Admiral Leahy, at least, this was a sign of the Prime Minister’s increasing ill-health and weariness.20

Truman sent his message to Stalin on 14 June. Two days later Stalin replied that since Berlin was not yet cleared of “mines,” entry of the allied troops would have to be delayed until 1 July. Truman had also asked for free access by road, rail and air for US forces. Stalin’s reply did not mention it. Nor did another to Churchill on 17 June, though he too had specifically requested freedom of transit.21 Neither western leader pressed the point. Both missed an excellent opportunity to define their rights of access to the city. When General Marshall, US Chief of Staff, sent a draft directive to Germany on 25 June for troop transfers, he added a note that transit rights had not been mentioned: “In accordance with the President’s message to Stalin [on 14 June] these should be arranged with Russian commanders concerned simultaneously with arrangements for other adjustments.”22 For Washington, access to Berlin was still a “military matter” to be sorted out on the spot.

How should it be done? There were two schools of thought at SHAEF as there had been in Washington. On the one hand, lawyers wanted written agreements from the Russians on free access before any orders were given for redeployment of troops. Philip Moseley had proposed to a SHAEF official that the US Army should choose two railways and two roads for their sole use, carry out all necessary repairs and maintenance on them, and be guaranteed alternatives should they prove unserviceable for any reason. The man only nodded and withdrew. Moseley heard nothing more.23 On the other hand, the military at headquarters thought “an old-boy agreement with the Soviet commanders would suffice,” as a Foreign Office lawyer at SHAEF recollected.24 The soldiers triumphed over the lawyers; no written agreement was asked for.

In its absence and without Zhukov’s permission, an American reconnaissance team tried to get into Berlin on 17 June. It was made up of 500 men, all armed, in about 120 vehicles, some of them tracked. It was commanded by Colonel Frank Howley, one day to be the Commandant of the city’s American sector. Once over the American bridge at Dessau the party was stopped by Russian guards on the grounds that “an agreement” allowed transit for only thirty-seven officers, 175 men and fifty vehicles; no half-tracks or machine-guns. In spite of doughty argument by Howley, only this remnant of the party finally proceeded. It was not permitted by the Russians to use the autobahn, so had to bounce along a parallel cobbled road. Before reaching Berlin the party was deflected to Babelsberg, a suburb near Potsdam which was ten miles from its objective. Here the Americans were more or less fenced in until they agreed to leave the Berlin area.25 Their fruitless journey was perhaps marginally less uncomfortable and humiliating than that of an RAF advance party sent to Gatow airfield in Berlin. This group was slapped by the Russians into Hangar No. I for twenty-four hours; the would-be RAF commander of the station was kept under lock and key for two days.26

Clearly some better arrangement had to be made if the western troops were to have a trouble-free entry into Berlin on 1 July, let alone proper access thereafter. The British and Americans sent their requirements to Marshal Zhukov, then took up the matter with him when Generals Lucius D. Clay and Sir Ronald Weeks (deputies to Eisenhower and Montgomery) visited Soviet headquarters on 29 June. The Marshal looked at their request: four rail links, two each for the Americans and British to connect with their zones; two roads, one to Frankfurt and the American zone, the other to Brunswick for the British; and air-lanes to Bremen and Frankfurt. These communications, he observed, as if suddenly struck by a startling realisation, ran across the Russian zone; they would have to be protected, and so “an extremely difficult administrative problem” arose. Surely, the Marshal suggested, in his silky, reasonable manner, one railway and one highway would be enough to feed and supply two small western garrisons of barely 50,000 men. They could both pass through Magdeburg – very “convenient” and “economical.” And undoubtedly, purred Zhukov, one air-lane over most of the Soviet zone would be adequate: American aircraft from Frankfurt and British from Hannover could meet and be channelled through Magdeburg too. Yes, he acknowledged, this would add fifty kilometres to the route, but “that isn’t too much flying,” he suggested. General Clay tried to defend his original requests and stressed that he must have freedom of access and full rights over all roads and lines from the west. Yes indeed, Zhukov replied; he was not questioning such rights, just offering the most convenient routes. Of course, he pointed out, Clay could reopen the whole question of access once the Allied Control Council began work.27 Zhukov did not remind anyone that in the ACC he had a veto.

Clay and Weeks settled for what Zhukov offered. It was less than they had asked for, far less than they knew they needed, but they wanted to be sure they got their men into Berlin on 1 July as agreed. Both men seem to have swallowed Zhukov’s eloquent explanations about difficulties of transport given the terrible havoc in the area, shortage of repair equipment and so on. Indeed, they were positively sympathetic: Zhukov was persuaded to accept the offer of American machinery to rebuild the autobahn bridge near Magdeburg. Clay was actually relieved not to have to sign any agreement on specified routes which might be interpreted later as a denial of rights over all routes. He noted with satisfaction Zhukov’s guarantee that allied traffic would be free from border search and controls by customs or military officials. He was most reassured by the promise that the ACC could adjust the transit arrangements at any time.28 He reported to Robert Murphy, who had become the US Military Government Political Adviser, that Zhukov was so reasonable it was safe to assume that there would soon be unlimited access to Berlin. The previously wary Murphy now agreed with Clay’s prognosis and informed Washington to that effect.29 In fact, as Clay argued later, “we were sitting over there with the greatest army that had ever been seen; nobody was concerned about anybody blocking us on roads and railways.”30 The verbal agreement of 29 June seemed so temporary that the Americans did not send their minutes of the meeting to Washington until April 1948.31 Montgomery was perfectly happy with it. As he recalled afterwards, he felt they had “a sort of friendly agreement, rather loosely defined. It was accepted that we would all do our stuff, and that no one would abuse this gentlemen’s agreement.”32 The British and Americans continued to believe that Zhukov, like the Prince of Darkness, was a gentleman, in spite of alarming evidence to the contrary they now received.

Major-General L. 0. Lyne, trying to move into Berlin to prepare for the arrival of the British garrison, was told he must take a circuitous route from the west: the autobahn bridge over the Elbe near Magdeburg was “impassable,” said the Russians. Lyne refused to accept the excuse, went straight to Zhukov and protested. The Marshal admitted that British troops had a right to free access to the city; “the only question, he explained, was the route to be followed.”33 The British took the side route. Another advance party under Colonel Howley was constantly held up by Russian searches, regardless of Zhukov’s promise two days earlier that there would be none. (Howley reckoned the Russians were only after loot and could not comprehend that Americans might leave Saxony and Thuringia without wagon-loads of it.) His party took twenty-four hours to reach the American sector. There they got a message from Zhukov forbidding them to occupy it until the military Kommandatura for the city was set up. Howley took no notice.34

Once the allies were in Berlin in the first week of July, Zhukov steamrollered them. On 7 July he told the American and British commanders that though the French might attend the allied Kommandatura, their sector would not be given any Russian territory. (Finally the French got their sector from the British, who were then compensated by the Americans.) Next Zhukov laid down that the city would be governed as a single unit and that no unilateral decisions would be taken in the sectors. The western commanders agreed since they had been given no briefing on the matter. (It is odd that they did not ask for one before agreeing.) Furthermore, Zhukov announced that the western sectors would not be fed from the Russian zone. This statement was breathtaking. Berlin had always been supplied from the surrounding areas, now all in Russian hands. If the western Powers took responsibility for their own sectors, food would have to be transported from their zones along the one crammed autobahn and the single laden railway. Zhukov played for sympathy: the old supply areas had been devastated by the recent fighting, the Red Army was nobly sacrificing its own stocks to keep Berlin alive, the Russian people who had suffered so much could hardly provide food from their own miserable rations. Clay was impressed. He reported to the War Department in Washington: “We must accept [Zhukov’s] statements as correct in the absence of confirming information”; there was no choice but to provide food for Berlin.35 This might well have to come from the United States and Britain as the zones were desperately short.

Not content with gaining an enormous advantage over food supply, Zhukov also insisted that the western Powers must supply their sectors with coal too. By western estimate the public utilities alone consumed about 6,000 tons of hard coal a day, which was obtainable only in the Ruhr and Silesia. There would be no Silesian supply, Zhukov announced: Silesia was now under Polish control (the first anyone had heard of it; no official announcement seems to have been made for another month). The Soviet Union had no powers there, he argued; she could only buy the fuel – and why should she, for western needs? Yet again, the British and Americans found Zhukov’s attitude reasonable. They agreed to bring in coal from the Ruhr, on condition the Russians provided 1,500 tons a day of lignite for domestic use. Clay, however, reassured Washington that both the food and the coal commitment must be seen as “an interim measure, until the Allied Control Council machinery had a further opportunity to investigate.”36

But no ACC existed as yet. In spite of the EAC agreement signed by the Commanders-in-Chief, Zhukov was still not prepared to set it up. At the next meeting, on 10 July, he produced some skimpy arguments about wanting to refer to Moscow and the convenience of waiting until the political leaders had held a conference. The western commanders put up no resistance; they humbly agreed to wait. Clay could see no alternative but continuing to work for four-Power harmony.37 In the attempt to get it, Clay and the British had made Berlin dependent on Russian goodwill. They had got no written guarantee of access; the minimal routes they were allowed to use were now the essential arteries for the survival of two-thirds of the city.

As if all this were not bad enough, the western Powers blundered further and allowed Berlin to be run on Russian terms. On 11 July, when the four commanders set up the Allied Kommandatura to run the city, they signed a decree drafted by the Russians: “Until specific notice all existing regulations and ordinances issued by the Commander of the Soviet Army garrison and Military Commandant of the city of Berlin and by the German administration under Allied control regulating the order and conduct of the population of Berlin … shall remain in force.” There could be no comfort in the phrase “until specific notice”; the western commanders might hope it meant “until we decide on changes,” but given a Russian veto in the Kommandatura, changes were unlikely. What had happened was that the West had given backdated sanction to all the actions taken in Berlin by the Red Army and the Moscow group since I May; they had accepted the financial, social and political structures designed in the Soviet Union and would now have to work within them.

The armies, as Kennan had warned, indeed drew the lines for post-war Berlin and Germany, and for Europe as a whole. But it was the Red Army which had largely determined where those lines would be. When the leaders of the three great allied Powers met at Potsdam outside Berlin from 17 July to 2 August 1945, they found that Stalin had pre-empted many of the decisions which should have been taken by the conference and had unilaterally imposed a settlement on eastern Europe. And he had redrawn the map of Germany: without mentioning anything to his allies, he had signed an agreement with the Poles on 21 April, entrusting them with the administration of German land east of the rivers Oder and Neisse. This included the rich industrial area of Silesia and added up to 21 per cent of the total of pre-war German territory. The Russians themselves had then absorbed a further 3,500 square miles of East Prussia. All in all, Stalin had redistributed a quarter of Germany without a word or a by-your-leave. It was a very different form of dismemberment from any of the plans formerly discussed. At Potsdam he announced these bare facts without blush or apology. His allies protested, of course; but they were not prepared to put real force, military force, behind their words. They appeared ready to pay any political price to maintain wartime co-operation; they dreaded a resumption of fighting, this time with the Soviet Union. So they merely drafted a feeble acknowledgment that the Poles might continue to run the areas they had taken until a “final settlement.”

The two western leaders were in no condition to stand up to Stalin. This was Truman’s first international conference and he did not feel ready for it. His chief anxieties were over what contribution the Soviet Union would make to the United Nations and the Japanese war (just like Roosevelt at Yalta). His attitude to eastern Europe had already been made clear by Hopkins: he would not intervene. Truman was also impressed by Stalin and disarmed by his affability. Churchill, who had seen through it long since, was tired and disheartened. An American observer was shocked to see how ill-prepared the Prime Minister was and how often he showed no grasp of subjects under discussion.38 Churchill did not stay at Potsdam long. Much to his surprise the British general election replaced his Conservative government with a Labour administration. His successor, Clement Attlee, and the future Foreign Secretary, Ernest Bevin, had been brought to Potsdam for politeness’s sake, but they took over the negotiations from 20 July when Churchill and Eden went home to the back-benches.

The Americans were greatly impressed by the smoothness of the transfer of power and the continuity of British policy. They were less impressed by the new men. Attlee sat silent; he was modest. (Churchill used to sneer that he had a lot to be modest about.) Stalin was rather delighted by him. “He does not look a greedy man,” he said with satisfaction.39 Attlee, though, was much sharper than anyone gave him credit for. He summed up Stalin in no time, and in typical clipped manner: “Reminded me of the Renaissance despots – no principles, any methods, but no flowery language – always Yes or No, though you could only count on him if it was No.”40 Attlee had decided within days of arriving at Potsdam that there was no possibility of real co-operation with the Soviet Union. While he sat quietly and watched, Ernest Bevin was in and out of every assembly, constantly muscling in at meetings of the Foreign Ministers; he was an instantly recognisable fixer and shrewd horsetrader bred of long experience in the trades union movement. It was Bevin who made the biggest explosion over the Polish administration of east German territory. “His manner was so aggressive,” complained James Byrnes, the American Secretary of State, “that both the President and I wondered how we would get along with this new Foreign Minister.” (In the event, Byrnes never did.) For the moment, however, Bevin’s explosions were all noise and no impact; without American backing they had no weight.

On the whole, the Potsdam Conference maintained a veneer of friendliness over growing mistrust. The setting was pleasant enough: the plenary sessions took place in the Cecilienhof Palace of the former Crown Prince (“Stock Exchange Gothic,” Attlee called it), a two-storey brown-stone pile set in woodland, with a newly planted twenty-four-foot red star of geraniums at the entrance and gardens stretching to Lake Griebnitz. The three leaders and their advisers sat round a table in the ballroom, cast wistful glances through the great windows at the gardens, and shunted their problems to daily meetings of the military and Foreign Ministers. (“Soon we shall have nothing to do,” mused Stalin.)41 Truman, for one, was glad to get rid of the insoluble. “I have come here to discuss matters upon which we three Chiefs of Government can agree,” he explained.42

So issues were dodged. They stopped talking about Poland; accepted that German populations in eastern Europe would have to be deported, but imagined this could be done “in an orderly and humane manner,” as their final communique put it. They issued a Declaration on Liberated Europe full of fine phrases about “restoration of sovereign rights and self-government,” “free elections” and “democratic means” for all that during the drafting of the Declaration Stalin had shown what he meant by “democratic”: “If the government is not Fascist, the government is democratic.”43

It was easy enough for the leaders to declare a common aim to demilitarise and denazify Germany – they were only repeating old slogans, not saying how they could do it all. It was not too difficult for them to announce their intention “that the German people be given the opportunity to prepare for the eventual reconstruction of their life on a democratic and peaceful basis” – they did not specify when, what they meant by “democratic” or what the nature of the “opportunity” would be. The allies could also talk of reorganising the judicial system, decentralising the political structure to develop more local responsibility and breaking up concentrations of economic power found “excessive” (whatever that meant) – they did not spell out how. When they promised Germany freedom of speech, press and religion, they hedged that freedom by subjecting it to undefined “security requirements.”

Vague and inadequate as all this may have been, the way in which the leaders addressed the basic matter of Germany’s administration was to make bad worse. They aborted any hope of maintaining a united Germany or even a vestige of allied co-operation. Their Protocol spoke of uniform treatment of all areas of Germany, of a single economic unit with common policies and central administrative agencies in which Germans would work under allied supervision. Yet at the same time the Powers divided the country into four separate occupation zones, left full authority in them to the individual Military Governors and gave each a veto in the ACC. They ignored the fact that on 27 July the Soviet authorities had already ordered the creation of eleven central German agencies to start work in the Soviet zone but to develop as an all-German bureaucratic structure. They chose to overlook too the fundamental differences of economic and political principle between the West and the Soviet Union, and the actions already taken in the Soviet zone which would make harmonisation of policies in a united Germany almost impossible, except on Russian terms.

A blind eye was also turned at Potsdam to nearly all the problems of reparations. The western leaders forbore to point out how much the Soviet Union had already stripped from its zone in advance of any agreement and did not even enquire if an account was being kept. The American delegation had particular cause to be aware of the thoroughness of Russian seizures: all the fittings in their bathrooms had been taken, though makeshift replacements had been found. The allied Reparations Commission, set up at Yalta in 1944, had met in Moscow thirty-seven times and achieved little except to suggest that there was no basis for the repeated Russian claim to $10 billion. In that time the allied armies had discovered the extent of the damage to German industry and infrastructure, and the British and Americans had decided that the demand for reparations was less important than giving the Germans the means to feed and support themselves. They inserted that principle into their final communique together with a stipulation that exports from current production should “be available in the first place” to pay for essential imports. Time would show that this was a paper agreement only; it failed to bind the Soviet Union. No decision could be reached at Potsdam on the total sum or nature of reparations. A delay of six months was given to calculate the value of capital equipment, assess German needs and investigate the capacity of the economy.

Stalin, however, wanted some specific promise on the proportion the Soviet Union would finally get. Bevin saw this as a splendid opportunity to trade for Russian concessions on the Polish frontier and the nature of the Polish regime. Not so Byrnes. He wanted compromise and Russian co-operation on other matters. Not surprisingly Molotov grabbed his offer of 10 per cent of the industrial equipment to be stripped from the western zones and a further 15 per cent to be exchanged for Russian food, coal, potash, zinc, day and petroleum products. Molotov had made sure of a tidy sum and given nothing in return.

With so much gained Stalin could afford a small gesture of generosity. It was, however, with predictable reluctance that he agreed that France should now be represented on the Reparations Commission. As from Yalta, so from Potsdam such tardy and minor concessions gave no satisfaction to the French. France had again been deemed unworthy of an invitation to the conference. Like the Fairy Carabosse who was not invited to the princess’s christening, France was rancorous. More importantly, having been left out of the decisions at Yalta and Potsdam, the French did not feel bound by them. Having suffered occupation and a Nazi economic policy which amounted to pillage, they felt justified in stripping any German resource; they were horrified by the suggestion of central German administrative departments and the possibility of a new strong state; above all they feared German military revival and wanted a settlement which gave France a secure frontier and deprived Germany of the Rhineland and the Ruhr.

Britain and the United States had no cause for satisfaction with the Potsdam Conference either. It had offered them a chance to dig in their heels, to use their military might and strategic position to challenge the Soviet position in Berlin and eastern Europe. At Potsdam, Truman had announced the test of the American atom bomb; that news alone could have driven the Soviet Union into compliance. Instead, the western leaders had continued to hope against hope that their own willingness to compromise would eventually be met with Russian goodwill and collaboration. Their preparedness to go halfway must have been encouragement to the Soviet Union to go on tugging. There had been few genuine Potsdam agreements; the hazy language of the final communique only just concealed the numerous disagreements between the wartime allies which time would magnify.

The codename Churchill had picked for the Potsdam Conference was “Terminal.” The meeting should, indeed, have rounded off the war and ended uncertainties and arguments about the peace. It had the opposite effect. Potsdam was the starting-point for new conflict and anxiety. Significantly, the word “terminal” is often associated with disease. Post-war Germany was sick from the earliest days. Potsdam made her sicker.
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Doctors or Heirs?

In the nineteenth century when the decaying Turkish Empire was described as the Sick Man of Europe, the Hapsburg Chancellor Metternich put a fundamental question to the other Continental leaders: are we the doctors or the heirs? Much the same alternatives faced the occupation Powers in Germany in 1945. Did they want to restore the country to full vitality? Would they prefer a languishing cripple or invalid? Should they deliver a mortal blow and enjoy the German inheritance of land and industrial wealth?

The temptation for the allies to destroy or at least cripple Germany was strong indeed. The war against Hitler had reduced Europe to indigence. The hostility felt to Germans while the fighting and Nazi occupation continued was intensified by the evidence from the liberated concentration camps, slave labourers, witnesses to SS extermination squads and the victims of Gestapo torture. As the picture of wartime atrocity emerged, few people made any distinction between Nazis and Germans: all were held equally responsible for the monstrous scale of bestiality and for the suffering and devastation the war had brought. Fifty-five million people had died since 1939; millions more were bereaved, orphaned or maimed. Prisoners of war once held by the Germans went home to countries despoiled by the Nazis of industrial machinery, livestock, transport and art treasures; they returned to unemployment and hunger. Surely, it could be argued, Germans deserved to suffer as others suffered. If there were any resources left in Germany they should be given as compensation to the victims. Indeed, why leave Germany in existence and risk this havoc again?

An opinion poll conducted in France in August 1945 recorded that 78 per cent of Frenchmen wanted Germany permanently divided; 71 per cent thought the country should be reduced to a purely agricultural state.1 During the war the American Secretary to the Treasury, Henry Morgenthau, had thought much the same. His plan, produced in 1943 and long acceptable to President Roosevelt, would have given East Prussia and much of Silesia to Poland, the Saar and adjacent territory to France. The Ruhr would have been gutted: all industrial plant and mining equipment dismantled within six months of Germany’s defeat and distributed among the allied nations. Thereafter, preached Morgenthau, “Germany’s road to peace leads to the farm.” The country must be split into small units and pastoralised. Only a little light industry would be left for the manufacture of agricultural machinery or the processing of food. The population must barely subsist on its own produce and be unable to trade with the rest of the world. Germany would be isolated, impoverished and impotent.
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